

U.S. ARMY COMBAT CAPABILITIES DEVELOPMENT COMMAND CHEMICAL BIOLOGICAL CENTER

ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MD 21010-5424

CCDC CBC-TR-1719

Flash Point of 2,2'-Dichloroethyl Sulfide (HD)

Patrice Abercrombie-Thomas Ann Brozena RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY DIRECTORATE

September 2021

Approved for public release: distribution unlimited.

Disclaimer

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorizing documents.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE			Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188				
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 h per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing this collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS .							
1. REPORT D	ATE (DD-MM-YYYY)) 2. REPORT T	YPE		3. DATES COVERED (From - To)		
ΔΛ-09-202		rinai			Sep 2009 – Oct 2009		
Flash Point	t of 2,2'-Dichloro	ethyl Sulfide (HI	D)		Ja .		
					5b.	GRANT NUMBER	
					5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER		
6. AUTHOR(S	6)				5d.	PROJECT NUMBER	
Abercromb	oie-Thomas, Patri	ce L. and Brozen	a, Ann		DTRA JSTO CB3662		
					Se. TASK NUMBER		
					5f. \	WORK UNIT NUMBER	
7. PERFORM	ING ORGANIZATIO	N NAME(S) AND ADD	DRESS(ES)	21010 5424	8. P N	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT	
Director, D		ATTN: PCDD-C	$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{R}$ - $\mathbf{C}\mathbf{I}$, $\mathbf{A}\mathbf{I}$ \mathbf{O} , $\mathbf{M}\mathbf{D}$	21010-3424	CC	DC CBC-TR-1719	
9. SPONSOR		AGENCY NAME(S)	AND ADDRESS(ES)	0.00	10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)		
Defense Th	reat Reduction A	Agency Joint Scient	nce and Technology	Office;	DIRAJSIO 11 SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)		
8/25 John	J. Kingman Roac	i, MSC 6201, For	t Belvoir, VA 22060	-6201		SPONSORMONITOR S REPORT NUMBER(S)	
12. DISTRIBU Approved	ITION / AVAILABILI for public release	TY STATEMENT : distribution unli	mited.		1		
13. SUPPLEN	MENTARY NOTES	itian Davialanman	t Commond Chamia	al Dialagiaal	Cont	or (DEVCOM CDC) was provided	
U.S. Army known as I	LS Army Edgew	vood Chemical Bi	ological Center	ai biologicai	Jent	er (DE VCOM CBC) was previously	
14. ABSTRA	CT: (Limit 200 words	5)					
Few experi	mental details are	e provided with th	ne 2,2'-dichloroethyl	l sulfide (HD)	flasl	n point value that is currently available in	
the literature. In the absence of information about the experimental method used and sample purity, it is difficult to assess the							
different cl	osed cup method	s: the continuous	sly closed cup met	hod in accord	lanc	e with ASTM D 6450 and the small	
scale close	ed cup method i	n accordance wi	ith ASTM D 3828.		unc	e with ASTWED 0450 and the shah	
seure crosed cup memor m'accordance whit his fivi D 5020.							
15. SUBJECT TERMS							
Continuously closed cup Miniflash							
Small scale closed cup Rapid flash tester							
2, 2'-dichloroethyl sulfide (HD) Flash point							
Physical properties							
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF: 17. LIMITATION OF 18. NUMBER ABSTRACT PAGES			OF	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON Renu B. Rastogi			
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	1			19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area code)	
U	U	U	UU	20		(410) 436-7545	
L		•	•			Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18	
						-	

Blank

PREFACE

The work described in this report was authorized under Defense Threat Reduction Agency Joint Science and Technology Office (Fort Belvoir, VA) project number CB3662. The work was completed between September and October 2009. At the time this work was performed, the U.S. Army Combat Capabilities Development Command Chemical Biological Center (DEVCOM CBC; Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD) was known as the U.S. Army Edgewood Chemical Biological Center.

The use of either trade or manufacturers' names in this report does not constitute an official endorsement of any commercial products. This report may not be cited for purposes of advertisement.

This report has been approved for public release.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Agent Chemistry Branch (DEVCOM CBC) members for providing the samples used for this work as well as Suzanne Foppiano (DEVCOM CBC) and Janett Stein (Hendall, Inc.; Rockville, MD) of the CBC Technical Library for locating several of the references cited in this report.

Blank

CONTENTS

	PREFACE	iii
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	BACKGROUND	1
3.	EXPERIMENTAL PROCESS	1
3.1	Materials	1
3.2	Flash Point Methods	2
3.2.1	Continuously Closed Cup Tester	2
3.2.2	Small Scale Closed Cup Tester	3
3.2.3	Instrument Validation	4
4.	FLASH POINT RESULTS	5
4.1	Continuously Closed Cup Testing Using Miniflash Tester	5
4.2	Small Scale Closed Cup Testing Using Rapid Flash Tester	6
5.	DISCUSSION	7
6.	CONCLUSION	7
	LITERATURE CITED	9

FIGURES

1.	Flash point pressure profile of <i>n</i> -dodecane using Miniflash tester
2.	Flash point pressure profile of HD using continuously closed cup Miniflash tester

TABLES

1.	HD Flash Point Sample Information	.2
2.	Instrument Validation Results (Experimental vs Literature) Using the Miniflash Tester	.5
3.	Instrument Validation Results (Experimental vs Literature) Using the Rapid Flash Tester	.5
4.	Summary of HD Flash Point Using Continuously Closed Cup Miniflash Tester	.6
5.	Summary of HD Flash Point Results Using Small Scale Closed Cup Rapid Flash Tester	.7

FLASH POINT OF 2,2'-DICHLOROETHYL SULFIDE (HD)

1. INTRODUCTION

The physical properties of the chemical warfare agent (CWA) 2, 2'-dichloroethyl sulfide (HD, also known as mustard) are well documented in the literature^{1–13}. These properties help to describe the physical chemical characteristics and behavior of the compound.

One of the properties used to assess the flammability hazard of a material is flash point. Flash point is the lowest temperature at which the vapor above a liquid specimen ignites when an ignition source is applied under specified test conditions.^{14,15} It is an empirical property, so the measured value may vary based on a variety of factors such as test method, instrumentation, sample purity, and operational conditions. Therefore, it is important that these testing parameters are identified when a flash point value is reported.

The currently accepted flash point of high purity HD in the literature² is 105 °C. However, there is some concern about the reliability of this value because the source provides very little information about the sample purity, test method, and apparatus used to conduct the measurement. To address these uncertainties, the flash point of HD was determined by two different closed cup methods using samples of known purity. The primary purpose of this work was to generate well-documented flash point data for HD, which will help improve agent data verification and validation assessment efforts within the testing community.

2. BACKGROUND

Flash point values can be measured in a variety of different ways using a number of either open cup or closed cup methods. The primary difference between these methods is that with the closed cup procedure, the saturated vapor above the liquid to which the ignition source is applied is confined to a closed space, whereas with open cup methods, the vapor is not confined and is allowed to mix with and be diluted by ambient air. Although both methods provide useful information, the closed cup methods generally give lower values than the open cup¹⁶ ones and are typically preferred because lower values reflect a more conservative assessment of the flammability hazard associated with the material from a safety perspective.

3. EXPERIMENTAL PROCESS

3.1 Materials

HD was synthesized in-house at the Chemical Transfer Facility (CTF; U.S. Army Combat Capabilities Development Command Chemical Biological Center; Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD), and sample purity of this HD lot (HD-U-9084-CTF-N) was determined by freezing point depression.⁸ Table 1 provides purity information on the two sample vials from this lot used in this work.

Sample Identification (Lot no. HD-U-9084-CTF-N) (HD15004Dm)	Purity* (mol %)
Vial no. 6	97.3
Vial no. 5	97.6

Table 1. HD Flash Point Sample Information

*Purity determined by freezing point depression.

3.2 Flash Point Methods

The flash point measurements for this work were conducted using two different ASTM International closed cup methods. Because of the toxic nature of the material being used, all work was performed in a certified laboratory fume hood.

3.2.1 Continuously Closed Cup Tester

Flash point measurements were conducted in accordance with ASTM D 6450.¹⁴ Flash point data were measured using the Grabner flash point high-temperature (FLPH) version FLPH Miniflash tester (Grabner Instruments; Vienna, Austria). Prior to sample measurements, proper instrument operation was validated by determining the flash point of *n*-dodecane (Chem Service Inc., West Chester, PA) (See Section 3.2.3 for instrument validation results). All measurements utilized 1 mL size samples and were based on a constant heating rate of 5.5 °C/min, ignition frequency of 1 °C, and air ventilation of 0.6 s.

In the ASTM D 6450 method, the occurrence of a flash is defined as the temperature at which the hot flame of the ignited vapor causes an instantaneous pressure increase (Δp) of at least 20 kPa inside the closed measuring chamber.¹⁴ The Miniflash tester, however, defines a flash as the temperature at which the pressure exceeds a set threshold (default threshold =20 kPa).¹⁷ This condition is inconsistent with the ASTM $\Delta p \ge 20$ kPa requirement. For example, if a sample has a baseline pressure higher than zero, the sample may exceed the 20 kPa threshold without producing a $\Delta p \ge 20$ kPa. To address this concern, the threshold pressure was set to 50 kPa so that data could be collected over a wider pressure range for determining a flash consistent with ASTM requirements.

Flash point measurements using the continuously closed cup method normally provide stable pressure readings up to the point of the flash, which is denoted by a sharp, well-defined pressure increase for flammable, high purity samples.¹⁴ This is illustrated by the pressure profile for a 99.4 mol % pure sample of *n*-dodecane (Figure 1), which has a literature flash point value of 79 °C (continuously closed cup method).¹⁸



Figure 1. Flash point pressure profile of *n*-dodecane using Miniflash tester.

3.2.2 Small Scale Closed Cup Tester

Flash point measurements were conducted in accordance with a modified version of the ASTM D 3828 method¹⁵ using the Koehler Rapid Flash tester (Koehler Instrument Inc., Bohemia, New York) Model K16502 (ambient to 300 °C). Prior to sample measurements, proper operation of the instrument was validated by determining the flash point of *n*-undecane (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri).

To provide flash point measurements using the scale closed cup Rapid Flash tester method, the following deviations and modifications were made:

- Because of the hazards associated with this material, measurements were conducted in a fume hood, which required use of a draft shield to prevent extinguishment of the test flame.
- Specimens were loaded through the shutter opening of the tester instead of the filling orifice in order to prevent possible sample contamination.
- During a flash point measurement, the test flame is applied to the vapor space above the specimen. In accordance with the method, a new specimen should be used each time a measurement (i.e., application of the test flame to the vapor space above the specimen) is conducted. To minimize sample volume as the flash point of each sample was being

narrowed down, multiple measurements were conducted on the same specimen. Only the results obtained from the first measurement on a given specimen were considered valid for the actual flash point determination.

Flashing, as determined by a small scale closed cup tester, is indicated by an instantaneous propagation of a large test flame over the surface of the specimen. Unlike the continuously closed cup method, which actually collects the temperature and pressure data being generated during measurement, the small scale closed cup method relies solely on the visual observation of the test specimen by the operator, which could introduce a degree of subjectivity. In order to minimize the degree of subjectivity, the method describes certain flashing behaviors that should not be reported as a flash.

One type of flashing behavior, which will be called a "borderline" flash, occasionally occurs near the actual flash point. It is indicated by a blue halo or an enlarged flame, which appears during the application of the test flame.¹⁵ Although the behavior exhibited by borderline flashing may be an indication that the specimen temperature is near the flash point, this particular behavior is not reported as a flash because there is no propagation of the test flame over the specimen.

Another type of flashing behavior, which should not be mistaken for a flash, is what will be termed "enhanced" flashing. This enhanced flashing generally occurs when samples containing low-flashing material produce an abnormally strong flash as the test flame is applied and can be an indication that the test temperature is well above the actual flash point of the sample.¹⁵

3.2.3 Instrument Validation

Before determining the flash points of the test samples, instrument validation tests are performed on standard materials of known flash points (e.g., *n*-dodecane and *n*-undecane). The instrument validation data (experimental vs literature) for the continuously closed cup method using the Miniflash tester is based on the results from four *n*-dodecane test specimens. Although the pressure increase for one of the samples was 18.7 kPa, which did not exceed the $\Delta p \ge 20$ kPa threshold required by the method, all measurements were consistent with the pressure profile of *n*-dodecane provided in Figure 1. The validation data is given in Table 2. The flash point of *n*-dodecane measured in this work is 78 ± 1 °C using the continuously closed cup Miniflash tester with a difference of -1 °C from the literature value of 79 °C.

The instrument validation data for the small scale closed cup method using the Rapid Flash tester is based on the results from five *n*-undecane test specimens (Table 3). The flash point of *n*-undecane measured in this work is 69 ± 1 °C using the closed cup Rapid Flash tester with a difference of +3.1 °C from the literature value of 65.9 °C.

	Experime	Literature* ¹⁸	
Compound	Flash Point (°C)	Mean Flash Point (°C \pm Std dev)	(uncertainty) (°C)
	78		79.0 (±0)
<i>n</i> -Dodecane Petrolah Lot no. 271.63A	77†	78 <u>+</u> 1	
Purity: 99.4%	79		
	78		

Table 2. Instrument Validation Results (Experimental vs Literature)Using the Miniflash Tester

^{*}This literature value was based on triplicate sample determinations.

[†]The pressure increase for this flash point measurement is $\Delta p = -18.7$ kPa, which does not exceed the

 $\Delta p \ge 20$ kPa threshold but still produces a pressure profile consistent with a high purity sample of *n*-dodecane.

Table 3. Instrument Validation Results (Experimental vs Literature)
Using the Rapid Flash Tester

	Experime	Literature ¹⁹		
Compound	Temperature (°C)	Flash/No Flash	(uncertainty) (°C)	
	65	No Flash		
<i>n</i> -Undecane	67	No Flash	65.9 (<u>+</u> 1.6)	
Aldrich Lot no. 02316AB	68	No Flash		
Purity: 99+%	68	No Flash		
	69*	Flash		

*Measured flash point value.

4. FLASH POINT RESULTS

4.1 Continuously Closed Cup Testing Using Miniflash Tester

Initial flash point measurements were conducted on two HD specimens from sample lot number HD-U-9084-CTF-N (Vial number 6) using the continuously closed cup Miniflash tester. Both of these measurements provided very stable pressure readings from 80 to 104 °C. At 104 °C, a flash occurred. It was indicated by a sharp and well defined pressure increase of \geq 20 kPa. This behavior is consistent with the results obtained with the standard (See Figure 1). The results from these measurements produced a flash point equal to 104 °C using the continuously closed cup Miniflash tester. A summary of the results is provided in Table 4, and the HD flash point pressure profile is shown in Figure 2.

Compound	Flash Point [*] (°C)	Mean Flash Point (°C)
	104	104
(Vial no. 6)	104	104

Table 4. Summary of HD Flash Point Using Continuously Closed Cup Miniflash Tester

*The uncertainty of this value, based on the results from the dodecane standard measured by the same method, is ± 1 °C





4.2 Small Scale Closed Cup Testing Using Rapid Flash Tester

To determine if similar results could be achieved for HD using a different closed cup method, flash point measurements were also conducted on eight HD specimens from two different samples using the small scale closed cup Rapid Flash tester. These measurements showed signs of borderline flashing at 109 °C, but the actual flash point was observed to be 110 °C. These results are summarized in Table 5.

Compound	Temperature (°C)	Flash/No Flash
	100	No Flash
HD	110	Flash
Lot no. HD-U-9084-CTF-N	107*	Flash
(Vial no. 6)	107	No Flash
	109	Borderline Flash
НЪ	109	No Flash
Lot no. HD-U-9084-CTF-N	110 [†]	Flash
(Vial no. 5)	109	No Flash

Table 5. Summary of HD Flash Point Results Using Small Scale Closed Cup Rapid Flash Tester

*Invalid test due to interruption of gas supply.

[†]Measured flash point value based on this work. The uncertainty of this value, based on the results from the undecane standard measured by the same method, is ±3.1 °C.

5. DISCUSSION

Because flash point values are a function of the instrumental design, sample purity and test conditions,^{14,15} comparison of the values generated using different methods should be performed with caution, especially when open cup and closed cup results are considered. In this work, two closed cup methods were used: the Rapid Flash and Miniflash testers. The Rapid Flash tester relies on visual observation and thus, may be considered a more subjective type of method than the Miniflash tester, which relies on a measured pressure increase.

In a case such as the use of two closed cup methods resulting in two different flash point values, it is prudent from a hazard assessment perspective to recommend using the lower of the two values (104 °C). This is consistent with reflecting the "worst-case" scenario from a safety standpoint. It is also important to note that this value is in good agreement with the currently accepted but insufficiently documented literature value of 105 °C.²

6. CONCLUSION

The currently accepted flash point of high purity HD in the literature is 105 °C. There were some concerns about the reliability of this value because the source provides very little information about the sample purity, test method, and apparatus used to conduct the measurement. To address these uncertainties, the flash point of high-purity HD was determined by two different closed cup methods using samples of known purity. The following results provide well-documented flash point data for HD, which will help improve agent data verification and validation assessment efforts within the testing community:

- HD flash point 104 °C (continuously closed cup method)¹⁴ using the Miniflash tester
- HD flash point $110 \,^{\circ}$ C (closed cup method)¹⁵ using the Rapid Flash tester.

The HD flash points determined in the current study using two different closed cup methods are in reasonable agreement with each other. However, from a hazard assessment perspective, use of the lower of the two values (104 °C) is recommended. This value is also consistent with the currently accepted but insufficiently documented literature value of 105 °C.

LITERATURE CITED

1. Buckles, M.F. *CW Vesicants: Selected Values for the Physical Properties of H, T, and Q;* Special Report CRLR 542; Chemical Corps Chemical and Radiological Laboratories: Army Chemical Center; MD, 1956, UNCLASSIFIED Report (AD108272).

2. Division 9 National Defense Research Committee of the Office of Scientific Research and Development. *Flash Point of Toxic Agents*; Monthly Summary Report Covering (11 Feb 1944 to10 Mar 1944); NDRC Misc. Pub. 251/15 National Defense Research Committee: Washington, DC, 1944, pp 83–85 (ADE475327).

3. Abercrombie, P.L; Butrow, A.B. *Selected Physical Properties of Ton Container HD (Mustard) and VX*; ERDEC-TR-450; U.S. Army Edgewood Research, Development and Engineering Center: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 1998; UNCLASSIFIED Report (ADA350462).

4. Felsing, W.A.; Hunting, C.A.; Fell, S.D. The Melting Point of Mustard Gas. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1948**, *70*, 1966.

5. Kibler, A.L. *Data on Chemical Warfare;* Technical Division Memorandum Report 456; Chemical Warfare Center: Edgewood Arsenal, MD, 1942; UNCLASSIFIED Report (ADB969725).

6. Moelwyn-Hughes, E.A.; Owens, R. *The Surface Tension, The Molecular Surface Energy and the Parachor of Toxic Compounds and of Certain Chlorides Used in Their Manufacture, Part XV of The Thermal Decomposition of the Secondary Alkylflurophosphonites;* Sutton Oak Report 544; Sutton Oak, England, 1941; UNCLASSIFIED Report (ADE486435).

7. Penski, E.C. *Properties of Di-(2-Chloroethyl) Sulfide I. Vapor Pressure Data Review and Analysis;* ERDEC-TR-043; U.S. Army Edgewood Research, Development and Engineering Center: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 1993; UNCLASSIFIED Report (ADA267059).

8. Butrow, A.B. *Determination of HD (Mustard) Purity by Freezing Point Depression*; ECBC-TR-414; U.S. Army Edgewood Chemical Biological Center: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 2005; UNCLASSIFIED Report (ADB306349).

9. Buchanan, J.H.; Buettner, L.C.; Tevault, D.E. Vapor Pressure of Solid Bis(2-Chloroethyl) Sulfide; *J. Chem. Eng. Data* **2006**, *51* (4), 1331–1334.

10. Abercrombie, P.L. *Physical Property Data Review of Selected Chemical Agents and Related Compounds: Updating Field Manual 3-9 (FM 3-9)*; ECBC-TR-294; U.S. Army Edgewood Chemical Biological Center: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 2003; UNCLASSIFIED Report (ADB294480).

11. Samuel, J.B.; Penski, E.C.; Callahan, J.J. (U) Physical Properties of Standard Agents, Candidate Agents, and Related Compounds at Several Temperatures; ARCSL-SP-83015; U.S. Army Armament Research and Development Command: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 1983; UNCLASSIFIED Report (ADC033491).

12. Munro, N.B.; Talmage, S.S.; Griffins, G.D.; Waters, L.C.; Watson, A.P.; King, J.F.; Hauschild, V. The Source, Fate, and Toxicity of Chemical Warfare Agent Degradation Products; *Environ. Health Perspect.* **1999**, *107* (12), 933–974 (ADE502001).

13. Brozena, A.; Tevault, D.E. Vapor Pressure Data and Analysis for Selected HD Decomposition Products: 1,4-Thioxane, Divinyl Sulfoxide, Chloroethyl Acetylsulfide, and 1,4-Dithiane; ECBC-TR-1514; U.S. Army Edgewood Chemical Biological Center: Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, 2018; UNCLASSIFIED Report (AD1053736).

14. ASTM D 6450-05, *Standard Test Method for Flash Point by Continuously Closed Cup* (CCCFP) Tester; ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2005.

15. ASTM D 3828-07a, *Standard Test Method for Flash Point by Small Scale Closed Cup Tester;* ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2007.

16. *Dangerous Properties of Industrial Materials;* 3rd ed.; Sax, I.N., Ed.; Reinhold Book Corporation: New York, 1968, p. 194.

17. Flash Point Tester MINIFLASH FLP/FLPH/FLPL Operation Manual; Grabner Instruments, Vienna, Austria, 2004 (USA Distributor-Petrolab Company Latham, New York).

18. Balasubramonian, S; Srivastav, R.K.; Kumar, S.D.; Sivakumar, D.; Sampath, M.; Mudali, U.K.; Natarajan, R. Flash Point Prediction for the Binary Mixture of Phosphatic Solvents and *n*-Dodecane from UNIFAC Group Contribution Model. *J. Loss Prev. Process Ind.*, **2015**, *33*, 183–187.

19. Montemayor, R.G.; Rogerson, J.E.; Colbert, J.C.; Schiller, S.B. Reference Verification Fluids for Flash Point Determination. *J. Test. Eval.* **1999**, *27* (6), 423–427.

DISTRIBUTION LIST

The following individuals and organizations were provided with one Adobe portable document format (pdf) electronic version of this report:

U.S. Army Combat Capabilities Development Command Chemical Biological Center (DEVCOM CBC) Chemical Analysis and Physical Properties Branch FCDD-CBR-CP ATTN: Abercrombie-Thomas, P. Ellzy, M.

Defense Threat Reduction Agency DTRA-RD-IAR ATTN: Pate, B. DEVCOM CBC Technical Library FCDD-CBR-L ATTN: Foppiano, S. Stein, J.

Defense Technical Information Center ATTN: DTIC OA



U.S. ARMY COMBAT CAPABILITIES DEVELOPMENT COMMAND CHEMICAL BIOLOGICAL CENTER